# Mobile Libraries and Digital Inclusion in Non-urban Aotearoa New Zealand

BY

# **RACHEL BELL**

Submitted to the School of Information Management,

Victoria University of Wellington

In partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Information Studies

October 2020

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:**

My supervisor, Anne Goulding, for your kind and constant encouragement, your astute insight into the topic, your good humour, and for helping unravel the many knots that appeared along the way.

The participants in this project. Without you so generously giving your time and insight this would not have been possible. Your enthusiasm for your work is an inspiration as I head out into the field.

My dear friends and family, for standing by and being here through an immensely difficult year, for helping to maintain perspective and keep things in balance.

Most importantly, to DDL, for your continued kindness and support, for providing a stable home base during this period of study, and, most of all, for allowing me the honour of *travelling in faith* with you.

Warmest gratitude to you all.

**ABSTRACT:** 

**PROBLEM:** The purpose of this study is to investigate the contribution mobile libraries are making

to digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand, the challenges mobile librarians

face in providing digital inclusion services, and how mobile libraries collaborate with other

organisations to support digital inclusion. Research concerning mobile libraries and their role in

supporting digital inclusion is limited, and this study aims to begin closing this gap in the

literature.

METHODOLOGY: This research project was qualitative and conducted using semi-structured

interviews of six staff members from five mobile libraries. Research data was coded and analysed

to identify key themes and insight on the topic.

**RESULTS:** By providing a range of digital inclusion services, participating mobile librarians

contribute positively to digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand.

Participants reported a range of challenges in providing these digital inclusion services, as well as

a number of opportunities to collaborate in their delivery. Many mobile librarians were

transitioning towards a more contemporary model of service provision and identified a number

of themes associated with this change.

**IMPLICATIONS:** Findings from this project suggest many avenues for future research, and may

be useful to mobile librarians and their potential collaborators, researchers looking to investigate

in this area, and those seeking a greater and more nuanced understanding of digital inclusion in

Aotearoa New Zealand.

**KEYWORDS:** Mobile libraries; digital inclusion; non-urban libraries; rural libraries.

3

# **Table of Contents**

1.0 Introduction	5
1.1 Problem Statement	5
1.2 Objective and Research Questions	7
1.3 Definitions	8
2.0 Literature Review	8
2.1 Digital inclusion and non-urban communities	8
2.2 The role of public libraries	11
2.3 Mobile libraries	13
2.4 Summary	15
3.0 Methodology	16
3.1 Population Sample	16
3.2 Ethics	17
3.3 Data Collection and Analysis	17
3.4 Assumptions and Limitations	18
4.0 Findings	19
4.1 What digital inclusion services do mobile libraries provide to non-urban areas of Aotearo Zealand?	
4.2 What challenges do mobile librarians face in providing digital inclusion services?	
4.3 How do mobile libraries collaborate with other organisations to increase digital inclusion urban communities in Aotearoa New Zealand?	in non-
4.4 Changing Models of Service Provision	
5.0 Discussion	
6.0 Conclusion	
References	
Appendices	
Appendix 1: Participant Information Sheet	
Appendix 2: Participant Consent Form	
Appendix 3: Organisational Information Sheet	
Appendix 4: Organisational Consent Form	
Appendix 5: Semi-Structured Interview Guide	
Appendix 6: Final Code List	
Appendix 7: Definitions and Frequency of Themes	
Additional Information	56

# 1.0 Introduction

Digital technologies have become critical for participation in modern social, professional, and civic life (Jaeger et al., 2012). As the government in Aotearoa New Zealand moves towards a digital public service (Department of Internal Affairs (DIA), 2020) and consumers increasingly "communicate and transact online" (Park et al., 2019, p.139) it is vital that all people are digitally included. This means they should be able to access "affordable and accessible digital devices and services at a time and place convenient to them, as well as the motivation, skills and trust to use the internet and pursue and realise meaningful social and economic outcomes" (Digital Inclusion Research Group, 2017, p.5).

Those living in non-urban areas are recognised as one group at risk of not being digitally included (Gann, 2019; Kos-Łabędowicz, 2017; Park, 2017), and recent analysis of data in Aotearoa New Zealand shows that larger country towns have the lowest proportion of people with access to the internet (Grimes & White, 2019, p.24). In general, access to digital infrastructure in Aotearoa New Zealand is high (Rural Broadband Usage Survey Project Team (RBUS), 2018; Grimes & White, 2019; Digital Inclusion Research Group, 2017; 20/20 Trust, 2017) even in non-urban areas, although during the first year of the Covid-19 pandemic, the need for broadband access in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand was again highlighted as people were required to conduct their work, education, life, and leisure activities from home (RNZ, 2020).

Access to the internet, however, does not ensure digital inclusion, and even when levels of access to broadband infrastructure are high, further tiers of digital exclusion may be apparent in which the barriers of affordability, capability, motivation and trust prevent people benefiting from the digital technologies available to them (Park & Humphry, 2018; Van Dijk, 2012; Helsper & Reisdorf, 2016; RBUS, 2018).

#### 1.1 Problem Statement

Described as a "new type of social inequality" (Park & Humphry, 2018, p.936), digital exclusion has a strong relationship with social exclusion (Park & Humphry, 2018; Alam & Imran, 2015; Martin et.al., 2016; Helsper, 2012; Lloyd et.al., 2010), and the correlation of social exclusion, economic disadvantage and digital disengagement has been shown to have increased over time

(Helsper & Reisdorf, 2016). One study in Aotearoa New Zealand indicated that those without internet access have lower subjective wellbeing than others, and are also less likely to be civically engaged through activities such as voting or signing a petition (Grimes & White, 2019, p.7, 35). Those who were unable to access the internet have reported experiencing isolation, powerlessness, and limited opportunity (Elliot, 2018) as a consequence of their digital exclusion.

Public libraries are an important community asset in aiding digital inclusion, and often provide internet access and technology training (Real et al., 2014; Gann, 2019;). They have also become central sites for "national policy focused on digital equity and universal service" (Strover et.al., 2020, p.247) and in the Aotearoa New Zealand context this can be seen in initiatives such as the Aotearoa People's Network Kaharoa (APNK)<sup>1</sup>, Skinny Jump<sup>2</sup>, and Stepping UP<sup>3</sup>, which are discussed in more detail in section 2.2. As interactions with government become increasingly digital, public libraries are also picking up the slack as a public contact point with government agencies (Lankes, 2012, p.17). In Aotearoa New Zealand, many people with limited internet access cite their local library as a place they can access the internet for free (Elliot, 2018), and it has been reported that some government departments will refer clients who do not have internet access to the public library where they can connect with digital government services (Local Government of New Zealand & Public Libraries of New Zealand, 2012, p.14).

As well as access to the internet and digital devices, public libraries contribute to digital inclusion in many other ways. These services include information and digital literacy training, 'makerspaces', assistance with online tasks, coding programs (Wyatt et al., 2015), technology classes, e-resources (Mehra et al., 2020, p.3) and digital content in accessible formats (Beyene, 2018). In this research project, these contributions to digital inclusion are referred to as 'digital inclusion services' or DIS.

Many of the DIS provided by public libraries are delivered at static library buildings. While these may serve the majority of library users, Aotearoa New Zealand, by OECD standards, is sparsely populated (Statistics New Zealand, 2005), with a large and scattered non-urban population that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://natlib.govt.nz/librarians/apnk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://www.skinny.co.nz/jump/home.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://steppingup.nz/

may not be able to access static delivery points. Mobile libraries have the ability to serve non-urban communities in the absence of a static public library, and have been shown to play a role in combating exclusion (Haggis & Goulding, 2003), aiding equity of access to online services (Knight & Makin, 2006), providing a sense of community (Davidson, 2006, p.45) and a focal point for social interaction (Dyson, 1990, p.27).

Given the large non-urban population in Aotearoa New Zealand, mobile libraries have the potential to act as important contributors to digital inclusion, but it is not clear how they do so. Several studies have focused on static library services to non-urban communities, and their role in supporting digital inclusion. There is, however, limited recent research concerning mobile libraries in general, and even less investigating the ways in which they contribute to digital inclusion.

This study aims to begin closing this gap in the literature by exploring the role mobile libraries play in digital inclusion for non-urban communities. It may be of value to mobile and outreach librarians, potential collaborators with mobile libraries, researchers looking to investigate in this area, and those seeking a greater and more nuanced understanding of digital inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand.

#### 1.2 Objective and Research Questions

The objective of this study is to investigate the contribution mobile libraries are making to digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand, the challenges mobile librarians face in providing DIS, and how mobile libraries collaborate with other organisations to support digital inclusion. To achieve this, the project will address the following research questions:

**RQ1:** What digital inclusion services do mobile libraries provide to non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand?

RQ2: What challenges do mobile librarians face in providing digital inclusion services?

**RQ3:** How do mobile libraries collaborate with other organisations to increase digital inclusion in non-urban communities in Aotearoa New Zealand?

#### 1.3 Definitions

#### Mobile libraries

In this study, a mobile library is defined as "a vehicle designed, equipped and operated to extend and facilitate access to public library services to those people who do not have reasonably convenient access to a static public library" (NSW Public Libraries, 2015, p.5). In Aotearoa New Zealand, mobile libraries were traditionally modified diesel-powered buses (Hawke & Jenks, 2005), although this study found that some services are transitioning to smaller vehicles that do not require a heavy transport license to drive.

#### **Digital Inclusion**

The terms digital divide, digital literacy, and digital inclusion have lacked clarity or consistent use (Jaeger et.al., 2012). In this study the term digital inclusion is used, and refers to an end state in which everyone has equitable opportunities to participate in society using digital technologies (Digital Inclusion Research Group, 2017).

#### Non-urban Areas

There is no agreed definition of rural, or non-urban areas, and areas have traditionally been defined according to population size. Although Statistics New Zealand (2004) has developed a more nuanced classification, in this research project, non-urban simply indicates that an area is not a main urban centre. This is guided by a population-based classification used by Grimes and White (2019, p.24) which originated from the New Zealand Election Study. The categories of larger country towns (10,000-25,000 population), country towns, and rural areas (under 10,000 population), are combined, and referred to as 'non-urban areas'.

#### 2.0 Literature Review

This literature review is organised by three themes: (a) digital inclusion and how this relates to non-urban communities; (b) public libraries and their contribution to digital inclusion; and (c) studies of mobile libraries.

#### 2.1 Digital inclusion and non-urban communities

Digital inclusion is widely regarded as a requirement for full participation in modern social, professional, and civic life (Jaeger et al., 2012). Some also state that it is not merely a beneficial

privilege, but a human right (Petri, 2017). Given this vital nature, there is a vast body of literature on this topic. This literature review begins with a brief overview of digital inclusion and associated terms, followed by a review of literature related to digital inclusion amongst non-urban communities and in the Aotearoa New Zealand context.

Early studies in this area focused on internet adoption and the binary framework of internet 'haves' or 'have-nots', naming the gap between the two the 'digital divide' (Jaeger et al., 2012). This understanding, however, was seen as too narrow, and a call was made for a more complex approach (Bertot, 2003; Warschauer, 2003; Van Dijk, 2005).

Discussion of the digital divide subsequently shifted to one of varying levels, and focus moved from first-level issues of internet access to second-level issues of skills and use (Hargittai, 2002). This departed from the notion that access to internet technology automatically provided a user with all the benefits of that technology (Scheerder et al., 2017). Later, a third level of digital divide was proposed. This focused on tangible outcomes of internet use and acknowledged that access and skills do not necessarily result in beneficial outcomes for users (Wei et al., 2011; Stern et al., 2009). Recent studies have indicated that even when internet access is universal, first-level divides persist in the form of access to devices, device opportunities, and related maintenance expenses (Van Deursen & Van Dijk, 2019).

Building on the concept of the digital divide, *digital literacy* acknowledges that the opportunities created by digital technologies cannot be realised through access alone (IFLA, 2017). According to the IFLA, a digitally literate person can efficiently, effectively and ethically use digital technology to meet their information needs (2017, p.2), and digital literacy is regarded as a vital precondition to digital inclusion (Gann, 2019, p.148), which can be viewed as an end state in which everyone has equitable opportunities to participate in society using digital technologies, and as the policy and outreach activities which mitigate the problems of the digital divide and digital literacy (Real et al., 2014) to achieve this.

Described as a "new type of social inequality" (Park & Humphry, 2018, p.936), digital exclusion has a strong relationship with social exclusion (Park & Humphry, 2018; Alam & Imran, 2015; Martin et.al., 2016; Helsper, 2012; Lloyd et.al., 2010), and the correlation of social exclusion,

economic disadvantage and digital disengagement has been shown to have increased (Helsper & Reisdorf, 2016). While Klecun (2008) discussed the potential of digital exclusion to compound existing social disadvantage, others have noted that lack of access to and appropriate use of digital technologies may be factors in social exclusion, but are not primary causes (Foley, 2004; Clayton & Macdonald, 2013).

Those living in non-urban communities are identified as one group at particular risk of digital exclusion (Gann, 2019; Real et al., 2014; Freeman & Park, 2015). Factors that cause this vary with specific geographic contexts, but include socio-economic circumstances of communities, aging populations, poor broadband connectivity, and the commercial feasibility of infrastructure development (Gann, 2019; Freeman & Park, 2015).

In Aotearoa New Zealand recent analysis of existing data has shown that residents of larger country towns experience the lowest levels of internet access (87.44%), along with country towns (88.59%) and rural areas (90.39%), compared to major cities (92.73%) (Grimes & White, 2019, p.24). These figures show that internet access is high, even in non-urban areas (RBUS, 2018; Grimes & White, 2019; Digital Inclusion Research Group, 2017; 20/20 Trust, 2017) and programs such as the Rural Broadband Initiative (RBI) aim to increase access to 99.8% of the population by 2023 through enhanced access to non-urban households and businesses, off-shore islands and marae (Crown Infrastructure Partners, 2018).

Despite high connectivity rates, those living in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand may still not be digitally included (Sylvester et al., 2017; Digital Inclusion Research Group, 2017), and the Rural Broadband Usage Survey (RBUS) has identified that even when the RBI achieved over 90% access to rural areas, problems in achieving potential gains seemed to be the effective *use* of broadband internet (RBUS, 2018) rather than access alone.

In 2019, the government in Aotearoa New Zealand released their Digital Inclusion Blueprint. This document outlines the role of central government in achieving digital inclusion, while also identifying existing initiatives and gaps. Drawing heavily on the Pulse of our Nation report (Digital Inclusion Research Group, 2017), the Blueprint identifies four factors of motivation, access, skills, and trust, which are required for digital inclusion. The Blueprint also acknowledges that residents

of rural or non-urban communities are amongst those at most risk of not being digitally included (DIA, 2019a).

This study was undertaken during the first year of the Covid-19 pandemic, and as people conducted work, education, life, and leisure activities from home during national lockdowns, issues of internet connectivity in Aotearoa New Zealand were quickly highlighted. In April 2020, the government recognised that some isolated households still required reliable broadband access (Faafoi & Jones, 2020, para.6) and funding was allocated to upgrade existing non-urban mobile towers and wireless infrastructure (Faafoi & Jones, 2020, para.3). In October, as Aotearoa New Zealand neared a general election, the Labour government pledged to set aside a \$60 million fund to improve internet access in non-urban areas if they were re-elected (RNZ, 2020).

Finally, the Digital Inclusion Research Agenda stated that one way of achieving the government's priorities for digital inclusion research is to undertake qualitative studies with groups less likely to be digitally included (DIA, 2019b). By investigating digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand, this project hope to help, in a small way, to provide insight in this area.

#### 2.2 The role of public libraries

Public libraries play an important role in the dissemination of information, and have extended this by offering access to the Internet, technological tools, and digital literacy training (IFLA, 2017). As one of the few institutions offering many services free of charge, public libraries are also an ideal location for the promotion of digital inclusion (Noh, 2019; Gann, 2019), and contribute through a range of services, including public access to the internet, digital devices, and digital content; digital literacy and technology training; (Noh, 2019; Bertot et al., 2015; Mehra et al., 2020) and information in accessible formats (Beyene, 2018). Some also provide 'non-traditional' digital inclusion services (DIS), including coding workshops, makerspaces, media labs and access to recording equipment (Wyatt et al., 2015).

During the Covid-19 pandemic, libraries have played an important role by providing reliable information to patrons (Wang & Lund, 2020, p.283); combating mis- and dis-information (Naeem & Bhatti, 2020); and, in some countries, providing Wi-Fi hotspots (Ayre, 2020). Researchers have also stressed the importance of providing virtual services, digital resources (Chakraborty et al.,

2020; Grassel, 2020), and digital inclusion initiatives (Gann, 2020a) while patrons were unable to physically access the library.

Despite these offerings, research continues to reveal areas in which digital exclusion persists. Preliminary findings of a survey of library managers in Aotearoa New Zealand indicate that more work is required to meet the digital needs of 'specialist groups', including patrons who are blind, low vision, deaf, hearing impaired, or who have physical impairments and complex needs (Hartnett, 2020).

In non-urban areas with poor quality, unaffordable or unavailable internet connectivity, and a lack of access to professionals who can assist with digital literacy tasks, DIS offered by public libraries are particularly important (Strover et al., 2020; Thiele, 2016). The provision of free public access to the Internet, computers, and printing facilities (Bishop et al., 2016), as well as computer and technology training (Hancks, 2012) by non-urban libraries has been shown to support the economic development of their surrounding communities. Recent research investigating the use of technology by non-urban libraries to promote community engagement has shown evidence that this may also help to overcome marginalization and bridge digital divides (Mehra et al, 2020).

Despite this critical role that non-urban public libraries can play in digital inclusion, they are relatively understudied, and have been found to experience difficulty offering DIS due to persistent problems with low staffing levels, a reliance on limited local funding, limited open hours, small and aging spaces (Real et al., 2014; Real & Rose, 2017), and poor telecommunications infrastructure (Thiele, 2016; Bishop et al., 2016; Mehra et al., 2020). Researchers in this field have also noted that, as a greater emphasis is placed on the provision of digital services, non-urban libraries will struggle further to keep up due to the difficulties outlined above (Real & Rose, 2017).

In Aotearoa New Zealand, the government has recognised inequalities in digital inclusion, and one of the measures implemented to mitigate this is the use of public libraries as technology hubs (Sylvester et al., 2017). This is evident in three programmes: the Aotearoa People's Network Kaharoa (APNK), Stepping UP, and Skinny Jump (formerly Spark Jump).

Funded by the National Library of New Zealand (National Library) in partnership with local councils, APNK provides "free and facilitated access to the internet and computer technology" in public libraries to help enable all New Zealanders become connected online (National Library, n.d., para. 1). APNK provision includes access to free high-speed and WI-FI internet connections, access to hardware including computers, printers and scanners, and the systems and support required to manage and maintain these.

Stepping UP is run by the Digital Inclusion Alliance Aotearoa (DIAA) in collaboration with public libraries and community centres. The program provides free, community-based training to build digital skills and knowledge through 38 training modules delivered at 93 locations which are predominantly libraries (DIAA, n.d.). The 2017-2018 Stepping UP annual report identified the need to continue expanding the Stepping UP program, especially to those who were rurally isolated (20/20 Trust, 2018).

Closely associated with Stepping UP, Skinny Jump is managed by the DIAA and many of the same partner organisations with support from the Spark Foundation. With no contracts or credit checks, Skinny Jump provides heavily subsidised, flexible prepaid broadband and a free modem to those families recognised as being at most risk of digital exclusion by the government's Digital Inclusion Blueprint (Skinny Jump, n.d.). As Skinny Jump partners, local libraries help to determine which families are eligible for the service, as well as providing support to set up and maintain Skinny Jump.

These DIS and human intermediaries have been shown to provide a critical role in brokering the interaction between people and information in order to create digitally included local communities (Mervyn, et al., 2014). While there has been much discussion about public libraries and how they aid digital inclusion, this research project focuses specifically on *mobile* libraries and their contribution to the digital inclusion of non-urban communities.

#### 2.3 Mobile libraries

Mobile libraries play a vital role in bringing library services to those without access to a static public library (Hawke & Jenks, 2005; Stringer, 2010), and have traditionally focused on dispersed or non-urban communities (Stringer, 2010). Mobile access is shown to be particularly important

for those groups who may have difficulty travelling to bricks and mortar libraries, including older people (Vincent, 2014), those who are blind or low vision (Kavanagh & Sköld, 2005) and children (Akanwa, 2013, Bamkin et al., 2013; Lewins & Paterson, 1990), for whom libraries play an important part in literacy development (Akanwa, 2013).

Scholarly and peer-reviewed studies of mobile libraries are limited, and due to this scarcity, much of the literature reviewed here is now over 15-20 years old. A large amount of literature surveys and summarises the range and types of mobile library services available in specific geographic areas. These include North America (Yarrow & McAllister, 2018), Zimbabwe (Doust, 1999), Greece (Bikos, 2014), Finland (Haavisto,1994), India (Khanna, 1994), the extreme north (Maksimova & Nebogatikova, 1993), and Africa (Ward, 1996). A smaller number focus on tracing the history of mobile library services, such as Han's (2010) in-depth study of public library services in post-colonial Singapore.

Remaining literature regarding mobile libraries tends to focus on practical and operational aspects of the service. This includes studies of the cost-effectiveness of a variety of library provision methods to rural communities (Haggis & Goulding, 2003), the barriers and potential solutions to the delivery of mobile library services to a rural county in Wales (Dyson, 1990) and the degree to which alternative methods of library provision are being utilised in rural areas of England (Benstead et al., 2004). Similarly, studies of mobile library services in Aotearoa New Zealand investigate the criteria upon which selection decisions are made (Davidson, 2006), and planning approaches used by public libraries for mobile library services (Quinn, 2008). Hawke and Jenks' paper (2005) outlines the history of mobile libraries in Aotearoa New Zealand, and discusses their detailed survey which was used to develop standards in this country, although this is now 15 years old. Results of their survey revealed the number of mobile libraries operating in Aotearoa New Zealand, as well as a rich description of their physical nature, funding, staffing, and usage. At the time, only one mobile library in Aotearoa New Zealand reported offering access to digital technology in the form of printing, photocopying, scanning and faxing services (Hawke & Jenks, 2005).

A very small handful of literature also takes a broad view, examining the role that mobile libraries played in constructing ideas of community in twentieth-century America (Attig, 2014), the use of mobile libraries as 'tactical urbanism' (Lydon & Garcia, 2015), or a lens through which to consider the politics of institutional mobility (Lingel, 2018).

The contribution of mobile libraries to digital inclusion is not often the sole focus of literature. The issue of digital inclusion instead appears in articles which discuss the upgrade of mobile library fleets (Clancy, 2003), and the adoption of new technology by mobile libraries (Monley & Pestell, 1996). Mobile makerspaces and fabrication labs have also been discussed as a way of taking new, creative technologies to patrons who cannot access static maker locations (Moorefield-Lang, 2015; de Boer, 2015). In Australia, Knight and Makin (2006) explored the transformation of mobile libraries from basic bookmobiles to 'branches on wheels' which offer a full range of public library services including access to the internet and new technologies. Professional guidelines for mobile library provision also touch on the requirement for mobile libraries to act as 'mini-branches', providing public access computers, copying facilities, access to online reference works and the provision to download (Stringer, 2010). IFLA mobile library guidelines refer to the 'cybermobile' — a specialist mobile library containing internet access, computers, and provision to scan, photocopy, and access digital material in various formats (Stringer, 2010).

#### 2.4 Summary

When viewed together, existing literature provides a clear picture of the barriers to digital inclusion faced by non-urban communities, and the potential of public libraries to foster digital inclusion. A small amount of insight is given into the provision of mobile library services generally, but very little literature addresses the interaction of mobile libraries, DIS, and non-urban communities.

This research project therefore focuses on how mobile libraries contribute to digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand, the challenges faced by mobile librarians in providing DIS, and how mobile libraries collaborate with other organisations to support digital inclusion.

# 3.0 Methodology

To answer the research questions of this project, a basic qualitative study was undertaken, with a focus on mobile librarians themselves. A qualitative research design alongside deductive and inductive reasoning allows for a rich and thick description of a phenomenon to be developed. Investigations of a qualitative nature are also "required to genuinely assess value and impact of all public services, rather than just levels of provision of service performance" (Eve & Brophy, 2000, p.3). Given the lack of research in the area of this study, an explorative approach was needed to gain insight into issues surrounding the topic (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015).

An ongoing literature review helped to identify gaps and formulate the research problem, questions, and design, as well as situating findings from the study in the context of previous work. Keywords, subject headings, citation searching, and snowballing was used to retrieve peer-reviewed, scholarly articles from library, information, and humanities databases. Keywords were also used to search the internet for related reports and policy.

#### 3.1 Population Sample

A small and purposeful sample of mobile librarians was chosen for this study. The goal in selecting this unique sample was to gain insight from those closest to the provision of service, who interact with both the patrons of mobile library services, and the branch libraries that provide them.

A directory of libraries in Aotearoa New Zealand (National Library, n.d.a., n.p.) was used to identify possible participants. The website of each public library was viewed by the researcher and 12 libraries appearing to operate a mobile library were identified and emailed directly. Three libraries, according to their mobile librarian, operated only within main urban centres and therefore did not fit the project scope. Ultimately, recruitment emails yielded six staff members from five libraries willing to participate. This sample is small, but nonetheless represents approximately 55% of public libraries that offer mobile library services to non-urban areas in Aotearoa New Zealand.

Participants were emailed an information about the project as well as individual and organisational consent forms. Signed consent forms were returned electronically to the

researcher, and an interview date was organised. Copies of these can be seen in Appendices 1-4. A multi-site and multi-person approach allowed the researcher to speak to mobile participants from a range of locations, aiming to capture "the diversity in experiences [of people] living in various geographical and cultural settings" (Leedy & Ormrod, 2017, p.280).

#### 3.2 Ethics

Victoria University research projects involving human subjects require approval from the Human Ethics Committee, and this was gained before data collection began. Ethical issues of interview-based research most often centre around informed consent and confidentiality, which were both addressed in this study.

Participation was strictly voluntary, and participants were informed of the nature of the study and granted written permission of their involvement through informed consent forms. Consent forms were stored separately from research data so that participants could not be linked to their contributions. Consent forms provided participants with the option of receiving a copy of their interview transcript so member checking could occur, and to receive a copy of the final report, although none chose to receive their interview transcript.

To ensure confidentiality, data that could identify a participant was de-identified by removal or through use of pseudonyms. Data was securely stored in a password-controlled device and will be destroyed once no longer required.

#### 3.3 Data Collection and Analysis

The primary instrument for data collection and analysis in this study was the researcher (Merriam, 2009, p.15), and data was collected through semi-structured, person-to-person interviews. Covid-19 travel restrictions meant that interviews were conducted by telephone, or online via video-conferencing software, Zoom. Interviews were chosen as they are shown to yield high response rates (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015, p.160) and to collect rich and complex data from which findings can be drawn. As mobile librarians serving non-urban communities in Aotearoa New Zealand are limited, high response rates were particularly important.

Because not much is known about the area of this study, the exploratory and flexible nature of the semi-structured interview format was vital. Participating were enabled to articulate what is important to them in their own terms, while still enabling the researcher to guide the interview, and respond to new ideas on the topic (Merriam, 2009, p.90).

Interviews were recorded then transcribed verbatim, and inductive and deductive analysis was applied to one interview before first- and second-cycles of coding took place. Coding, the process of examining a unit of data and labelling it with a summarizing word or phrase, makes the data "readily accessible for analysis" (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019, p.259). First-cycle coding produced an initial list of codes, which was used to analyse remaining transcripts. Using axial coding a final list of codes and subcodes was developed, with definitions and examples to guide further analyses. These final lists can be seen in Appendix 6. Second-cycle coding was then undertaken, with all transcripts analysed sentence by sentence using the final code list.

#### 3.4 Assumptions and Limitations

Two primary assumptions are made in this study: that those living in non-urban communities are at risk of digital exclusion; and that the delivery of services through mobile libraries contributes to digital inclusion amongst non-urban communities. Existing literature suggests that these assumptions are sound, but this research project aims to shed light on the topic.

Due to time constraints, the study sample is limited to mobile librarians serving non-urban communities in Aotearoa New Zealand. This non-probabilistic and purposive sample was also chosen so that participants had expertise and experience in the project area. Sample limitations also determined the small sample size.

Limitations in data analysis revolved around member checking and the use of a single researcher to code data. Interviewees could opt to receive a copy of their transcript to check it was correct. As none chose to do so, member checking did not occur. Due to time and resource constraints, data analysis was undertaken only by the principal researcher, which increases the risk that this person's expectations and biases will influence the codes assigned (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015, p.313). Future research in this area would benefit from both member checking, and multiple independent raters during coding and data analysis.

Delimitations were made when reviewing literature. Traditionally used to describe a non-static library, the term *mobile library* has expanded to also refer to the use of mobile technologies in libraries. This resulted in a large number of false positives when literature searching. Only papers related to mobile libraries as previously defined in this study are included.

# 4.0 Findings

Deductive analysis revealed a number of themes which are discussed below and organised around the project's research questions. Many comments corresponded with the Digital Inclusion Blueprint themes of access, skills, motivation, and trust, and this framework is reflected in how these findings are reported. Further inductive analysis revealed a number of additional themes related to changing models of service provision. Although this study is qualitative, the frequency with which each theme is discussed can be seen in Appendix 7 to further assist in building a rich picture of the data.

4.1 What digital inclusion services do mobile libraries provide to non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand?

#### Access

Participating mobile librarians offered a wide range of digital inclusion services (DIS) to non-urban communities. The majority of these related to the theme of access. Participants primarily discussed internet access, with four out of five mobile libraries offering free Wi-Fi, and two providing Skinny broadband. Where Wi-Fi was not offered, the participant stated that this was trialed, but not continued due to low use:

"...we really didn't have a lot of uptake with the Wi-Fi, [...] honestly, everyone seemed to have things on their phone."

Three additional participants also commented that although they provided free Wi-Fi, patron use remained low. This is further discussed under RQ2.

Access to digital devices was also offered by all participants, including iPads, Chromebooks, laptops and a stationary computer, as well as printing, photocopying and scanning equipment. Three mobile libraries provided access to new technologies such as virtual reality headsets,

robots and robotic kit, light pads, and 3D printers. One participant was considering providing digital conferencing equipment so that children in remote areas could participate in book or coding clubs at branch libraries.

Another interviewee emphasised the importance of providing access to non-urban schools that may be ill-equipped in terms of digital technologies and skilled staff:

"...a school that might have 25 students, be incredibly rural, the service we offer is disproportionately important to them in terms of digital technologies. [...] If we can take our coding laptops or our robots, [...] they don't have that stuff".

Additionally, one participant indicated that the access they provided gave patrons the opportunity to try digital technology before purchasing it themselves. This participant recounted giving advice to a grandmother who frequently brought her mokopuna<sup>4</sup> to a robotics group:

"...the following week she would come in and say, could you write down exactly what it is? [...] So I'm [...] looking it up, ok, look I'm going to email you, this is the product description, this is where you get it from, oh they've got one in stock in [town] at [shop]."

#### Skills

Many interviewee comments also related to the provision of digital skills which helped patrons use the internet and digital technology. Participants reported that these services may be part of planned programming, or ad-hoc.

Librarians offered skill-based programming on three mobile libraries, and a fourth planned to do so. Activities in this area were usually library-focused, with programming to teach patrons how to log into their library accounts, download e-books and audio books, and access online material. Interviewees also discussed programming related to new technologies, including coding and robotic programming, 3D printing, and digital literacy.

Three participants noted that skill-based assistance was often ad-hoc, and centred around the use of digital technology for library-related purposes. This included assisting patrons to access e-books and e-magazines, and use library websites and software. One participant cited an ad-hoc

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Te Reo Māori: grandchildren or descendants.

query from a patron who lived in an isolated area, had difficulty accessing a physical library, and had recently gained access to the internet through Skinny Jump broadband:

"I demonstrated on my computer how to access e-magazines as she'd been having some trouble previously [...]. She went away knowing that she could actually get the magazines she wanted via the internet and vowed to give it a go...."

Ad-hoc assistance with digital tasks that were not library-related included requests for help with internet banking, listing items on internet auction websites, use of personal digital devices, and using digital technology to make community funding applications and apply for jobs.

One interviewee noted that the type of assistance required by patrons differed along with varying internet access. This participant reported that patrons from areas with poor internet service required assistance with basic tasks like using the library app, whereas those from areas with higher internet connectivity may seek to perform more complex tasks or utilise new technology.

#### *Motivation and Trust*

Significantly fewer comments related to DIS associated with themes of motivation and trust. Those services that motivate patrons to understand how digital technology can help them meaningfully, and build trust with patrons to use digital technology safely.

The majority of comments related to *motivation* came from one participant who made a strong effort to encourage patrons to use digital services when they were introduced:

"It took them a while to get used to it, that they could access the internet and all of that. So that was quite a lot of me gently pushing that side of the new service because they were so used to the older one."

Two additional interviewees also touched on issues of motivation when discussing potential programming focused on intentional non-users of digital technology, and the need for mobile librarians to promote the use of digital collections.

**Trust** was mentioned by two participants when discussing assistance with personal digital devices. One participant used the example of helping a patron to update her iPad:

"...she could have done it by herself [...] but I think sometimes people just want someone with them, [...] sometimes that's all it is, we're just sitting here [...], and they're actually doing all the work but it's like a security blanket while they do it."

Another interviewee discussed the trust that patrons held in public libraries generally, and the use of this to promote the ability of librarians to help with digital technology:

"...people really trust libraries and the people who work at them, with helping them with their digital stuff, and it's something we actively advertise as well, [...] do you need help with your iPad, come talk to your local librarian."

#### 4.2 What challenges do mobile librarians face in providing digital inclusion services?

All participants identified a range of challenges in providing DIS. These are discussed below under the sub-themes of patron use, staffing, physical, scheduling, Covid-19, financial, and measurability. Some interviewees also commented on benefits to the library service and these are also reported.

The largest number of comments regarding challenges in the provision of DIS were associated with *patron use*. One participant had discontinued free Wi-Fi access due to low patron use, and of the remaining four mobile libraries, staff from three commented that patron use remained low:

"It's not used at all. You know you advertise that we've got it, we're paying for it, and I think the staff use it more than any customer ever."

One interviewee stated that they had also ceased offering access to printing and photocopying equipment due to low use, and the same participant mentioned that this was a contributing factor when deciding whether to introduce other digital technology.

Patron interest and skill level in the use of digital technology was also discussed. One participant reported having many elderly patrons who were not interested in e-books, and varying levels of skill proved difficult when implementing programming aimed at this cohort:

"...we'll [...] take some iPads and try to do a little bit of digital instruction, but it's been, it's very unsuccessful. The skill level of the participants and what they really want is just so varied."

When discussing mobile library use generally, one participant also noted the effect of changes in the non-urban community they serve. This librarian reported decreasing use of their mobile library in non-urban areas, and identified contributing factors which included: a smaller population due to increasing farm sizes, increased connectivity rates in the area, and younger, more mobile residents.

Challenges of *staffing* were associated primarily with differing staff attitudes to digital technologies, and with practical staffing issues. Interviewees from two mobile libraries discussed challenges related to staff attitudes, interest, and familiarity with digital technology, with one stating that:

"...everyone in the team has [a] slightly different level of comfort with it, and I think some of us promote it far more than others. Others probably wouldn't think about it."

Practical staffing issues were primarily related to the number of staff who worked on the mobile library at any one time. One participant discussed the nature of being a 'solo-operator' and the difficulty this caused when patrons required assistance with digital technology:

"...you can't sit down and talk to someone for five or ten minutes or teach them how to get an email. [...] the fact that we're sole operating, we can do those quick and dirty little queries, but we can't do anything more in-depth."

Issues of scheduling the mobile library service, and the relationship this had to staff attitudes were also mentioned and these are discussed below under the subtheme of 'logistics'.

All participants discussed *physical* challenges. Comments in this area most often referred to the mobile library vehicle itself and were sometimes intertwined with issues of staffing. Four interviewees noted that larger mobile library vehicles required a heavy transport license, and that this was, or had been, a limiting factor when seeking staff. These participants identified this

as a factor when replacing older mobile library vehicles, and often a smaller vehicle that didn't require a heavy transport license was chosen:

"We used to have a bigger bus but then it died [...], and my managers were keen to get one that was easier to drive. Because we always had trouble getting people to drive, [...] if I was away, or someone was away, it's really hard to get someone to drive the big bus at short notice. So it was part of our reason to go for something you can just drive on a car license."

The shift to a smaller vehicle often involved new physical challenges, and three participants mentioned that a smaller mobile library could be a limiting factor when offering access to digital technologies or skill-based programming:

"...see our van [is] pretty small already, and [...] there's not really a lot of space on it for a desk or a computer for someone to sit down and do their stuff."

One Interviewee reported that a reliance on batteries to run digital equipment could also be challenging and was a factor when deciding whether to continue providing access to a computer, printer and photocopier on a new mobile library.

Challenges of *scheduling* were identified a number of times, with one participant indicating that low uptake of free Wi-Fi may be related to a schedule made up of short stops. This interviewee continued by discussing the implementation new schedules in which longer stops allowed patrons more time to access digital services. Similarly, four interviewees acknowledged that in order to provide DIS, longer periods of time spent in the community were required.

One participant discussed the challenges of scheduling in great detail and in relation to changing models of service provision, which are discussed below in greater depth. Issues of scheduling also appeared to have a relationship to staff attitudes, with this participant describing the effect of staff attitudes when implementing new models of scheduling:

"...some of it is around breaking the models of thinking, both our communities and our staff have around, it's like just a constant battle to not go back to scheduling standard, regular stops."

All interviewees identified challenges related to *Covid-19*. One participant had only recently begun to provide DIS. Their second 'pop-up' library was due to take place when a national lockdown began and was unable to proceed. This interviewee also mentioned that lockdowns had prevented coding workshops and a regular robotics group from taking place.

One interviewee noted that older patrons who did not have access to the internet, or the skills to access digital materials, were especially excluded throughout Covid-19 lockdowns. This participant observed an increasing interest in e-books from older patrons, and related this to the potential benefit of higher digital engagement:

"...they had no books for like three months, [...] it was just ripped out from under them, and that's why it would be good if they did have more ability."

Additionally, one participant was involved in an outreach survey conducted during a Covid-19 lockdown and reported expressions of vulnerability felt by residents of non-urban communities. Respondents to the survey expressed a desire for internet training and assistance with tasks such as internet banking. Despite these challenges, two participants also noted that nationwide lockdowns had provided a valuable opportunity to invest time in the planning and strategy of mobile library services.

A small number of comments from three participants related to challenges of a *financial* nature. One interviewee was waiting on funding so that a new mobile library could be purchased, and until then was delivering mobile library and DIS from a domestic vehicle. Another discussed low patron use of the mobile library generally in relation to the cost of a replacement vehicle. Low uptake of DIS also contributed to challenges in accessing funding, as one participant discussed:

"We got Wi-Fi on the buses two and a half years ago and that was quite a big struggle to get the acceptance of funding for it really, [...] because it's not used much."

Challenges related to the *measurability* of DIS were mentioned by only one participant. This interviewee planned to implement more DIS but expressed concern that the success of these could not be captured by traditional, circulation-based measures.

A few participants also reported *benefits* to their library service in providing DIS. On one mobile library where patron use of Wi-Fi was very low, the mobile librarian noted that this access was still beneficial to staff when familiarising patrons with the library's digital interfaces. Where free internet access was provided through APNK, the participant reported benefits of cost and security to the library:

"...so the fact we can add that into our annual subscription and they do the back end and stuff, rather than us having to set up a kind of independent. [...] It's also safe, you know [...] it's running through the DIA National Library security systems..."

One interviewee commented that, as their smaller mobile library carried fewer print books, the importance of supporting patrons to access digital resources grew. This support then facilitated a rise in e-book readership. Greater patron familiarity and use of digital library resources may also free up staff time, and assist mobile librarians who wished to implement less-regular, and more responsive scheduling:

"Having the digital library is a really key part of our strategy around lending. If we can encourage our customers to use the digital library, which is open 24/7, then we might not need to go every four weeks."

4.3 How do mobile libraries collaborate with other organisations to increase digital inclusion in non-urban communities in Aotearoa New Zealand?

When prompted to speak about collaboration, the majority of comments related to Skinny Jump mobile and broadband services, or services related to APNK. Three mobile libraries distributed Skinny Jump, while another used Skinny Jump for internet access on the mobile library. A fourth participant had promoted Skinny Jump in the past.

One interviewee intended to use APNK Chromebooks when delivering DIS to non-urban communities, and only one mobile library collaborated with APNK to offer free Wi-Fi access:

"...and the really interesting part of what we've done with the [mobile library] is it actually has APNK, has a mobile version of APNK."

Additional statements regarding collaboration stemmed primarily from one participant. This mobile librarian was investigating a number of opportunities to collaborate with organisations to promote both traditional and digital literacy. As the librarian stated:

"I'm down to work with anyone!"

This interviewee planned to collaborate with the Department of Conservation to run coding workshops for children during conservation week, but this was unable to proceed due to Covid-19 lockdowns. They were also investigating the implementation of Digital Inclusion Alliance Aotearoa's (DIAA) Better Digital Futures for Seniors programme. When this mobile librarian was approached by a local resource centre regarding computer classes, they had connected the community group with DIAA, and planned to work with both organisations to implement these.

### 4.4 Changing Models of Service Provision

Findings related to this theme are discussed here under the subthemes of: traditional or contemporary models; the 'whole library experience'; digital exclusion in non-urban communities; community consultation, and digital inclusion strategy.

Five interviewees made comments related to a *traditional model* of mobile library service provision centred around larger vehicles that prioritised access to print material, and made multiple short stops:

"...there was a bus, [...] it had set stops, [...] it would drive to so-and-so a place and sit there for half an hour whether anyone came or didn't come, [...] it had shelving and didn't do any programming, didn't have any Wi-Fi, didn't have computers, didn't have any of those things. It was kind of like the traditional model."

Conversely, comments from participants indicated that a *contemporary model* of service provision was associated with smaller mobile library vehicle which incorporated DIS. Comments related to this theme described a mobile library service that went to the community rather than expecting patrons to come to it, and scheduling that included longer and more flexible stops.

Four interviewees discussed taking their mobile library services to community events, including weekend markets, halls, pools, and sporting events, as one participant explained:

"We need to go to where the people already are rather than us going to a hall and saying, come to the hall! How is the hall any different from going to the [nearest] library? [...] So whether that's going to rugby on a Saturday morning, or is it going to the wool sheds, or is it going to the stockyards, or is it going to touch night, or the farmers market..."

In order to incorporate this, three participants mentioned the need for flexible scheduling and longer stops.

The incorporation of DIS was discussed by four interviewees in relation to those offered at branch libraries. These participants aimed to provide a mobile library service that offered everything a branch library could, and is described here as 'the whole library experience'. One interviewee explained this intention:

"...anything you can get at a regular library you can get on the [mobile library]. That's why we have printing, [...] scanning, [...] the 3D printer, [...] programming. It's not about like, oh here's the mobile library, it's a watered down miniaturised version of a lending service. We aspire for it to have everything that a regular library could have."

All interviewees cited examples of *digital exclusion in the non-urban communities* they serve and five expressed the need for *community consultation* when developing services that respond to this. Participants indicated that consultation took place through formal and informal community surveys, and by speaking to community representatives. One interviewee commented that:

"...there's no point of taking what you think they're going to want, because they're less likely to use it."

When asked whether their model of service provision was informed by *digital inclusion strategy*, participants from three mobile libraries indicated that they had clear strategy in place for their service which was linked to both organisational and national digital inclusion strategy. One of these participants indicated that new digital technologies content in the New Zealand school curriculum had also informed their desire to implement digital literacy programs. While remaining participants did not identify alignment with digital inclusion strategy, both noted that

activities on their mobile libraries were informed by the strategy of their associated branch library.

## 5.0 Discussion

While findings related to each theme were reported separately above, it is clear that many have a complex relationship. In light of this, findings of the study are discussed here together, in relation to existing literature on which the project was based. Suggestions for further research are also made throughout.

Many digital inclusion services (DIS) offered by mobile libraries in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand appear to target first-level divides of access. While internet connectivity remained an issue in some of the areas served by participants, many non-urban areas in Aotearoa New Zealand are relatively well-connected (RBUS Project Team, 2018; Grimes & White, 2019; Digital Inclusion Research Group, 2017; 20/20 Trust, 2017). Continued focus on access despite this seems to support research which shows that even when the internet is widely available, first-level digital divides may persist in the form of access to devices, or expenses related to the maintenance of hardware, software, and subscriptions (Van Deursen & Van Dijk, 2019).

However, many interviewees reported that although they offered access to the internet and digital technologies, patron use remained low. It is unclear whether this was because patrons were already digitally included, or due to a lack of motivation and trust. This finding calls into question one of the primary assumptions made in this study, that those living in non-urban communities were at risk of digital exclusion, and is an area that requires further investigation.

Participants also offered DIS related to second-level, skill-based digital divides, and most interviewees reported a desire or need among their patrons for assistance in this area. These findings are in keeping with the notion that access to technology does not automatically provide the user with all the associated benefits (Scheerder et al., 2017), and that the problem in fulfilling gains offered by the RBI in Aotearoa New Zealand are now associated with effective use of the internet, rather than access alone (RBUS, 2018).

Third-level divides associated with motivation and trust were mentioned much less, and DIS targeted in these areas appeared to be minimal. One interviewee, however, seemed to be very aware of the issue of motivation, and their comments indicated a conscious effort to increase their patrons' motivation to utilise DIS provided.

The Digital Inclusion Blueprint describes trust as a person's level of trust in the internet and online services, and their ability to use the internet and "avoid scams, harmful communication and misleading information" (DIA, 2019a, p.10). In this research project, statements regarding trust were limited, and this theme was predominantly discussed in terms of the trust patrons had in libraries and their staff. Although the theme of trust is not discussed here in the same context as that understood in digital inclusion strategy, comments regarding trust indicated that, in general, patrons trusted mobile librarians. One interviewee noted that this trusted position could also be problematic, as patrons may request assistance with tasks such as internet banking:

"It's tricky right, for librarians, because we're like, oh we can't transfer money for you, you have to do that for yourself. But there is a huge cry for support..."

Human intermediaries fulfil a critical role in brokering the interaction between people and information to create digitally included communities (Mervyn et al., 2014), and it is worth noting that participants who discussed the role of motivation and trust when delivering DIS, also reported issues of low patron use less frequently. Although only anecdotal, it may be of benefit to collect more information about the relationship between these factors.

By offering DIS, participating mobile libraries respond to digital exclusion in their non-urban communities, and research has suggested that where there is low connectivity and a lack of skilled professionals, DIS offered by public libraries are particularly important (Strover et al., 2020; Thiele, 2016). This is especially evident in participant comments regarding the vital nature of DIS offered to remote schools who face issues of low connectivity and a lack of staff with digital skills. Suggestions that access to the Internet and digital technology (Bishop et al., 2016) through non-urban libraries supports the economic development of surrounding communities also ring true alongside participants' reports of the use of DIS for community funding and job applications.

While literature related to the challenges faced by mobile libraries when delivering DIS is limited, *static* non-urban libraries have been found to experience persistent problems with low staffing levels, a reliance on limited local funding (Real et al., 2014) and poor telecommunications infrastructure (Thiele, 2016; Bishop et al., 2016; Mehra et al., 2020). Real and Rose also identified that small, aging buildings; limited staff funding; and a lack of mechanisms for collaboration may make it difficult for non-urban libraries to keep up with changes in the field by offering digital services (2017). Some challenges reported in this study align with those identified. Interviewees discussed low staffing levels in the form of difficulties finding drivers for mobile libraries, especially when a heavy transport license was required, and challenges associated with small and aging buildings may also have similarities with those of aging, or smaller mobile library vehicles. Overall however, it appears that due to their intrinsically mobile nature, many of the challenges faced by mobile libraries are unique. These findings highlight a gap in existing literature and an opportunity for further research.

Participants in this study sought collaborative opportunities to varying degrees when implementing DIS, and the benefits of this collaboration were especially evident where mobile libraries capitalised on existing relationships between public libraries and organisations such as APNK and Skinny Jump. Mehra et al. (2020, p. 9) have stated that when implementing technology use in non-urban libraries, a strategic approach to collaboration with external stakeholders was an important way for libraries to create greater impact with their available resources. Closures of public libraries worldwide due to Covid-19 restrictions have also highlighted the need for digital inclusion and the fact that public libraries cannot fulfill this alone. Research in this area suggests that community consultation and collaboration with local, national, and international organisations will be vital in achieving parity of access to digital technology and opportunities (Ayre, 2020) and this call is supported by a number of participant comments in these areas.

Most participating mobile librarians were moving, or had moved, towards a contemporary model of service provision which was characterised by the provision of DIS, use of smaller vehicles, flexible scheduling, community consultation, and attendance at existing community events. Previous studies have explored the transformation of mobile libraries to 'branches on wheels' (Knight & Makin, 2006), while professional guidelines recommend that mobile libraries act as a

'mini-branch', offering access to a range of digital technology and resources (Stringer, 2010), and this desire to provide the 'whole library experience' was expressed by participants in this study. This contemporary model of service provision is, in many ways, vastly different from that described by Hawke and Jenks in 2005, when only one mobile library offered access to digital technology, and perhaps it is time for a replication of their survey in order to learn more about our current situation.

Real and Rose (2017) identified that remote non-urban libraries had different needs and challenges to those that were closer to main urban centres, but were often treated as one homogeneous group when their service offerings were studied. In response to this, the researchers separated non-urban libraries into three, more nuanced categories (2017, p.41). Many participant comments in this study noted that the needs of each community were unique:

"What I do out in [community A] is completely different to what I do in [community B] because there are different needs for those communities."

In response to this, participants stressed the importance of community consultation to ascertain differing needs, and it is encouraging to note that five out of six participating mobile librarians reported engaging in community consultation to some degree when planning the delivery of DIS. Due to the small number of possible participants in this study to begin with, non-urban communities of different natures were indeed grouped together into one. In future, case-studies, or studies that focus on a specific type of non-urban community would also be helpful to differentiate needs and possible models of provision.

Some participants were very aware of, and informed by, national and organisational strategy regarding digital inclusion, whereas others were unfamiliar with these, although it did appear that the activities of all participants' mobile libraries were informed by the strategy of their associated branch library. Findings in this area were minimal, so conclusions cannot be drawn, but, as strategy and policy related to digital inclusion is seen to be key component in bridging non-urban digital divides (Strover, 2014), mobile librarians may benefit from greater familiarity with these. Despite this, through the provision of programmed and ad-hoc DIS related to access,

skills, motivation, and trust, mobile libraries appear to be contributing to national government strategy for digital inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand.

# 6.0 Conclusion

This study aimed to begin closing a gap in available literature by investigating how mobile libraries contribute to digital inclusion in non-urban communities of Aotearoa New Zealand. Analysis of interview data revealed findings which indicate that mobile libraries contribute positively to digital inclusion in a wide variety of ways, and have the potential to fulfill an important role in promoting digital inclusion in the non-urban communities they service.

In relation to the research questions, mobile libraries provide digital inclusion services (DIS) that enhance the provision of access to the internet and digital technology in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand, as well as DIS that increase the skills, motivation, and trust of patrons in this area. Participants reported a range of challenges in providing these DIS, and these were primarily associated with levels of patron use, staffing, physical limitations, scheduling, and those related to the Covid-19 pandemic. Some interviewees also collaborated with external organisations to provide DIS in their non-urban communities, and many discussed the transition towards a more contemporary model of service provision, along with the related elements of a 'whole' library experience, responding to digital exclusion, community consultation, and digital inclusion strategy.

The topic of digital inclusion is multi-faceted and complex, and this research project identified, and touched lightly on a large number of important issues. As there is minimal research related to mobile libraries in these areas, many of these issues could benefit from in-depth investigation in their own right. This study was exploratory, and due to time constraints and participant responses, the number of participants was limited to only six staff from five libraries. This small sample size does not allow for generalised conclusions to be drawn on the topic, and research drawing on a representative sample of mobile librarians servicing non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand would enable a more complete picture to be built.

#### 30096123

Additionally, by focusing only on the perspective of mobile librarians, this study does not capture the experiences of mobile library patrons, or intentional non-users of mobile library services. Future research which investigates DIS from a patron perspective may be of value. Despite these limitations, the qualitative data captured in this research project begins to build a rich picture of how mobile libraries contribute to digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand.

When writing about non-urban libraries and digital inclusion, Brian Real made a call for academics in this field to conduct research that enabled non-urban librarians to share information with their peers, and that could be used positively by librarians, their funders, and their allies (Real, 2017, p.3). In a small way, this study hopes to provide some insight in this area which may be useful to mobile librarians, especially as they seek to update their existing models of service provision; potential collaborators with mobile librarians; researchers looking to investigate further in this field; and those seeking a greater, and more nuanced understanding of digital inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand.

# References

- 20/20 Trust. (2017). *Digital Inclusion Manifesto*. Retrieved from <a href="https://2020.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Digital-Inclusion-Manifesto.pdf">https://2020.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Digital-Inclusion-Manifesto.pdf</a>
- 20/20 Trust. (2018). *Stepping UP Annual Report.* Retrieved from <a href="https://digitalinclusionalliance.nz/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/2017-2018-report-for-LGB-compressed.pdf">https://digitalinclusionalliance.nz/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/2017-2018-report-for-LGB-compressed.pdf</a>
- Akanwa, P. (2013). Public library services to children in rural areas. *Library Philosophy and Practice*, (September 2013), 1-16.
- Alam, K. & Imran, S. (2015). The digital divide and social inclusion among refugee migrants: a case in regional Australia. *Information Technology & People, 28*(2), 344-365. DOI:10.1108/ITP-04-2014-0083
- Attig, D. (2014). Here comes the bookmobile: public culture and the shape of belonging.

  (Publication No. 3646479) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.
- Ayre, L.B. (2020). What more can we do to address broadband inequity and digital poverty? *Information Technology and Libraries, 39*(3), 1-6. DOI: 10.6017/ital.v39i3.12619
- Bamkin, M., Goulding, A. & Maynard, S. (2013). The children sat and listened: storytelling on children's mobile libraries. *New Review of Children's Literature and Librarianship, 19*(1), 47-78. DOI:10.1080/13614541.2013.755023
- Benstead, K., Spacey, R. & Goulding, A. (2004). Changing public library service delivery to rural communities in England. *New Library World,* 105(11/12), 400-409. DOI:10.1108/03074800410568734
- Bertot, J.C. (2003). The multiple dimensions of the digital divide: more than the technology 'haves' and 'have nots'. *Government Information Quarterly, 20*(2), 185-191. DOI: 10.1016/S0740-624X(03)00036-4

- Bertot, J.C., Real, J.L., McDermott, A.J., & Jaeger, P.T. (2015). 2014 Digital inclusion survey: survey findings and results extended summary. Retrieved from <a href="https://digitalinclusion.umd.edu/sites/default/files/uploads/2014DigitalInclusionSurvey">https://digitalinclusion.umd.edu/sites/default/files/uploads/2014DigitalInclusionSurvey</a>
  FinalRelease.pdf
- Beyene, W. M. (2018). Digital inclusion in library context: perspective from users with print disability. *Journal of Web Librarianship,* 12(2), 121-140. DOI.10.1080/19322909.2018.1427657
- Bikos, G. & Papadimitriou, P. (2014). Mobile libraries in Greece: historical perspectives and state of the art. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 147*, 376-382. DOI:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.114
- Bishop, B.W., Mehra, B., & Partee, R.P. (2016). The role of rural public libraries in small business development. *Public Library Quarterly, 35*(1), 37-48. DOI:10.1080/01616846.2016.1163971
- Chakraborty, K., Kureshi, P.S.L., Gajbe, S.B., Upadhyay, N., & Devi, D. (2020). Role of LIS professionals to provide authentic information sources during COVID-19 pandemic crisis.

  \*\*Library Philosophy and Practice, 4180, 1-19. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/libphilprac/4180
- Clancy, F. (2003). Victorian mobile libraries: moving into the new millennium. *Australian Public Libraries and Information Services*, *16*(1), 21-37.
- Clayton, J. & Macdonald, S.J. (2013). The limits of technology: social class, occupation and digital inclusion in the city of Sunderland, England. *Information, Communication & Society, 16*(6), 945-966. DOI:10.1080/1369118X.2012.748817
- Crown Infrastructure Partners. (2018). Fact sheet: Rural Broadband Initiative phase two (RBI2) and the Mobile Black Spot Fund (MBSF) expansion. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.crowninfrastructure.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/RBI2-MBSF-expansion-fact-sheet-18-Dec-2018-FINAL.pdf">https://www.crowninfrastructure.govt.nz/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/RBI2-MBSF-expansion-fact-sheet-18-Dec-2018-FINAL.pdf</a>

- Davidson, G. J. (2006). *Criteria upon which selection decisions are made for mobile library collections.* [Unpublished Master's thesis]. Victoria University of Wellington.
- De Boer, J. (2015). The business case of FryskLab, Europe's first mobile library Fablab. *Library Hi Tech, 33*(4), 505-518. DOI:10.1108/LHT-06-2015-0059
- Department of Internal Affairs. (2019a). *The Digital Inclusion Blueprint / Te Mahere mō te Whakaurunga Matihiko*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.digital.govt.nz/assets/Documents/113Digital-Inclusion-BlueprintTe-Mahere-mo-te-Whakaurunga-Matihiko.pdf">https://www.digital.govt.nz/assets/Documents/113Digital-Inclusion-BlueprintTe-Mahere-mo-te-Whakaurunga-Matihiko.pdf</a>
- Department of Internal Affairs. (2019b). *Digital Inclusion Research Agenda*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.digital.govt.nz/dmsdocument/169~digital-inclusion-research-agenda/html">https://www.digital.govt.nz/dmsdocument/169~digital-inclusion-research-agenda/html</a>
- Department of Internal Affairs. (2020). Strategy for a digital public service. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.digital.govt.nz/assets/Digital-government/Strategy/Strategy-for-a-Digital-Public-Service.pdf">https://www.digital.govt.nz/assets/Digital-government/Strategy/Strategy-for-a-Digital-Public-Service.pdf</a>
- Digital Inclusion Alliance Aotearoa. (n.d.). *Programmes*. Retrieved May 19, 2020, from <a href="https://digitalinclusionalliance.nz/programmes">https://digitalinclusionalliance.nz/programmes</a>
- Digital Inclusion Research Group (2017). *Digital New Zealanders: The Pulse of our Nation*.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://www.mbie.govt.nz/assets/218c439f72/digital-new-zealanders-the-pulse-of-our-nation.pdf">https://www.mbie.govt.nz/assets/218c439f72/digital-new-zealanders-the-pulse-of-our-nation.pdf</a>
- Doust, R. (1999). Provision of school library services by means of mobile libraries: the Zimbabwe experience. *IFLA Journal*, *25*(3), 148-151. DOI:10.1177/034003529902500304
- Dyson, I. (1990). Mobile libraries in rural areas, with special reference to Clwyd. *Library Management*, *11*(2), 15-32. DOI:10.1108/EUM000000000826
- Elliot, M. (2018). *Out of the maze: building digitally inclusive communities.* Retrieved from <a href="https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bd0d99e16b6404fe9018538/t/5bdf7f9b575d1f">https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bd0d99e16b6404fe9018538/t/5bdf7f9b575d1f</a>
  Od19337766/1541373904877/OutOfTheMaze.pdf

- Eve, J. & Brophy, P. (2000). VITAL issues: the perception, and use, of ICT services in UK public libraries. LIBRES: library and information science electronic journal, 10(2), n.p. Retrieved from <a href="https://cpb-us-e1.wpmucdn.com/blogs.ntu.edu.sg/dist/8/644/files/2014/06/Vol10\_I2\_Vital.pdf">https://cpb-us-e1.wpmucdn.com/blogs.ntu.edu.sg/dist/8/644/files/2014/06/Vol10\_I2\_Vital.pdf</a>
- Faafoi, C., & Jones, S. (2020). Rural broadband upgrade to boost COVID-19 recovery in remote communities. Retrieved October 15, 2020, from <a href="https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/rural-broadband-upgrade-boost-covid-19-recovery-remote-communities">https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/rural-broadband-upgrade-boost-covid-19-recovery-remote-communities</a>
- Foley, P. (2004). Does the internet help to overcome social exclusion? *Electronic Journal of e-Government*, 2(2), 139-146. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ejeg.com/volume2/issue2">http://www.ejeg.com/volume2/issue2</a>
- Freeman, J. & Park, S. (2015). Rural realities: digital communication challenges for rural Australian local governments. *Transforming Government*, *9*(4), 465-479. DOI: 10.1108/TG-03-2015-0012
- Gann, B. (2019). Digital inclusion and health in Wales. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet,* 23(2), 146-160. DOI:10.1080/15398285.2019.1608499
- Gann, B. (2020). Combating digital health inequality in the time of coronavirus. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet, 24*(3), 278-284. DOI: 10.1080/15398285.2020.1791670
- Grassel, A. (2020). Programming in time of pandemic: the year libraries went touchless. *Children and Libraries*, *18*(3), 1-3. DOI: 10.5860/cal.18.3.3
- Grimes, A. & White, D. (2019). *Digital inclusion and wellbeing in New Zealand*. Retrieved from http://motu-www.motu.org.nz/wpapers/19 17.pdf
- Haavisto, T. (1994). Mobile libraries in Finland: culture brought to your doorstep. *Resource Sharing and Information Networks*, *9*(2), 111-117. DOI:10.1300/J121v09n02\_11
- Haggis, S. & Goulding, A. (2003). Books to rural users: public library provision for remote communities. *New Library World*, *104*(3), 80-93. DOI:10.1108/03074800310467007

- Hancks, J.W. (2012). Rural public libraries' role in community economic development. *Public Library Quarterly*, *31*(3), 220-236. DOI: 10.1080/01616846.2012.707108
- Hargittai, E. (2002). Second-level digital divide: differences in people's online skills. *First Monday,* 7(4). Retrieved from https://firstmonday.org/article/view/942/864
- Han, L. (2010). The history of an emerging multilingual public library system and the role of mobile libraries in post-colonial Singapore, 1956-1991. *Malaysian Journal of Library & Information Science*, 15(2), 85-108.
- Hartnett, M. (2020, Jan 26). Libraries as spaces for digital inclusion an update. Equity Through Education. Retrieved May 21, 2020, from <a href="https://www.equitythrougheducation.nz/latest-news/2020/1/26/libraries-as-spaces-for-digital-inclusion-an-update">https://www.equitythrougheducation.nz/latest-news/2020/1/26/libraries-as-spaces-for-digital-inclusion-an-update</a>
- Hawke, B. & Jenks, F. (2005). On the move: mobile library services in New Zealand. *Australasian* public libraries and information services, 18(3), pp.93-105.
- Helsper, E. J. (2012). A corresponding fields model for the links between social and digital exclusion. *Communication Theory*, 22(4), 403-426. DOI:10.1111/j.1468-2885.2012.01416.x
- Helsper, E. J. & Reisdorf, B. C. (2016). The emergence of a "digital underclass" in Great Britain and Sweden: changing reasons for digital exclusion. *New Media & Society, 19*(8), 1253-1270. DOI:10.1177/1461444816634676
- International Federation of Library Associations. (2017). *IFLA statement on digital literacy*.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ifla.org/files/assets/faife/statements/ifla digital literacy statement.pdf">https://www.ifla.org/files/assets/faife/statements/ifla digital literacy statement.pdf</a>
- Jaeger, P.T., Bertot, J.C., Thompson, K.M., Katz, S.M. & DeCoster, E.J. (2012). The intersection of public policy and public access: digital divides, digital literacy, digital inclusion, and public libraries. *Public Library Quarterly*, *31*(1), 1-20. DOI:10.1080/01616846.2012.654728

- Kavanagh, R. & Sköld, B.C. (Eds.). (2005). *IFLA professional reports no. 86. Libraries for the blind*in the information age: guidelines for development. Retrieved from

  <a href="https://www.ifla.org/files/assets/hq/publications/professional-report/86.pdf">https://www.ifla.org/files/assets/hq/publications/professional-report/86.pdf</a>
- Khanna, S. (1994). Mobile library services with a special reference to Delhi Public Library.

  \*Resource sharing and Information Networks, 9(2), DOI:10.1300/J121v09n02 12
- Klecun. E. (2008). Bringing lost sheep into the fold: questioning the discourse of the digital divide.

  Information Technology & People, 21(3), 267-282. DOI: 10.1108/09593840810896028
- Knight, R. & Makin, L. (2006). Branches on wheels: innovations in public library mobile services.

  Australasian Public Libraries and Information Services, 19(2), 89-96.
- Kos-Łabędowicz, J. (2017). The issue of digital divide in rural areas of the European Union. *Ekonomiczne Problemy Usług, 126*(2), 195-204. DOI:10.18276/epu.2017.126/2-20
- Lankes, R. D. (2012). Expect more: demanding better libraries for today's complex world. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.).

  Retrieved from <a href="https://davidlankes.org/rdlankes/Publications/Books/ExpectMore/ExpectMore2.pdf">https://davidlankes.org/rdlankes/Publications/Books/ExpectMore/ExpectMore2.pdf</a>
- Leedy, P.D. & Ormrod, J.E. (2015). *Practical research: planning and design.* (11<sup>th</sup> ed.). Essex, England: Pearson Education Limited.
- Lewins, H. & Paterson, F. (1990). Evaluating Leicestershire's book bus. *Library Review, 39*(5), 42-57. DOI:10.1108/EUM00000001474
- Lingel, J. (2018). A bookmobile critique of institutions, infrastructure, and precarious mobility. *Public Culture*, *30*(2), 305-327. DOI:10.1215/08992363-4310942
- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: a synthesis guiding the novice.

  \*Qualitative research journal, 19(3), pp.259-270. DOI:10.1108/QRJ-12-2018-0012
- Lloyd, A., Lipu, S. & Kennan, M. A. (2010). On becoming citizens: examining social inclusion from an information perspective. *Australian Academic & Research Libraries, 41*(1), 42-53. DOI: 10.1080/00048623.2010.10721433

- Local Government of New Zealand & Public Libraries of New Zealand. (2012). *Public libraries of New Zealand: a strategic framework 2012-2017.* Retrieved from http://www.publiclibraries.org.nz/Portals/150/Resources/NZ\_Public\_Libraries\_Strategic\_Framework.pdf?ver=2015-11-20-202119-673
- Lydon, M. & Garcia, A. (2015). *Tactical Urbanism*. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Maksimova, G. & Nebogatikova, E. (1993). Mobile library services for the nations of the extreme north. *Resource Sharing and Information Networks, 8*(2), 73-79. DOI:10.1300/J121v08n02 10
- Martin, C., Hope, S., Zubairi, S. & Ipsos MORI Scotland. (2016). *The role of digital exclusion in social exclusion*. Retrieved from https://d1ssu070pg2v9i.cloudfront.net/pex/carnegie\_uk\_trust/2016/09/LOW-2697-CUKT-Digital-Participation-Report-REVISE.pdf
- Mehra, B., Sikes, E-S., & Singh, V. (2020). Scenarios of technology use to promote community engagement: overcoming marginalization and bridging digital divides in the Southern and Central Appalachian rural libraries. *Information Processing & Management, 57*(3), 102-129. DOI: 10.1016/j.ipm.2019.102129
- Merriam, S.B. (2009). *Qualitative research: a guide to design and implementation.* San Francisco, CA.: Jossey-Bass.
- Mervyn, K., Simon, A. & Allen, D.K. (2014). Digital inclusion and social inclusion: a tale of two cities. *Information, Communication & Society, 17*(9), 1086-1104. DOI:10.1080/1369118X.2013.877952
- Monley, B. & Pestell, R. (1996). Mobile libraries in the age of technology. *Australasian Public Libraries and Information Services*, *9*(2), 78-82.
- Moorefield-Lang, H.M. (2015). When makerspaces go mobile: case studies of transportable maker locations. *Library Hi Tech*, *33*(4), 462-471. DOI:10.1108/LHT-06-2015-0061

- Naeem, S.B. & Bhatti, R. (2020). The Covid-19 'infodemic': a new front for information professionals. *Health Information & Libraries Journal*, *37*(3), 233-239. DOI: 10.1111/hir.12311
- National Library of New Zealand. (n.d.). *Aotearoa People's Network Kaharoa*. Retrieved April 10, 2020, from https://natlib.govt.nz/librarians/apnk
- National Library of New Zealand. (n.d.a). *Directory of New Zealand libraries*. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://natlib.govt.nz/directory-of-new-zealand-libraries
- Noh, Younghee. (2019). A comparative study of public libraries' contribution to digital inclusion in Korea and the United States. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, *51*(1), 59-77. DOI: 10.1177/0961000616668571
- NSW Public Libraries. (2015). *Mobile & outreach services*. Retrieved from http://www.sl.nsw.gov.au/sites/default/files/mobile outreach services.pdf
- Park, S. (2017). Digital inequalities in rural Australia: a double jeopardy of remoteness and social exclusion. *Journal of Rural Studies, 54*(2017) 399-407. DOI:10.1016/j.jrurstud.2015.12.018
- Park, S., Freeman, J. & Middleton, C. (2019). Intersections between connectivity and digital inclusion in rural communities. *Communication Research and Practice*, *5*(2), 139-155. DOI:10.1080/22041451.2019.1601493
- Park, S. & Humphry, J. (2018). Exclusion by design: intersections of social, digital and data exclusion. *Information, Communication & Society, 22*(7), 934-953. DOI:10.1080/1369118X.2019.1606266
- Petri, C. (2017). Rural libraries and the human right to internet access. In B. Real (Ed.) *Rural and small public libraries: challenges and opportunities* (Advances in Librarianship, Vol. 43, pp.13-35). Emerald Publishing Limited. DOI:10.1108/S0065-283020170000043002
- Quinn, S.B. (2008). *Planning approach used by New Zealand public libraries for mobile library services*. [Unpublished Master's thesis]. Victoria University of Wellington.

- Real, B., Bertot, J. C. & Jaeger, P. T. (2014). Rural public libraries and digital inclusion: issues and challenges. *Information Technology and Libraries, 33*(1), 6-24. DOI:10.6017/ital.v33i1.5141
- Real, B., & Rose, N. (2017). Rural public libraries in America: continuing and impending challenges. In B. Real (Ed.) *Rural and small public libraries: challenge and opportunities* (Advances in Librarianship, Vol. 43, pp.37-59). Emerald Publishing Limited. DOI:10.1108/S0065-283020170000043003
- RNZ. (2019, October 10). *Labour promises \$60m fund to improve internet in rural areas*. Retrieved October 15, 2020, from https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/political/428023/labour-promises-60m-fund-to-improve-internet-in-rural-areas
- Rural Broadband Usage Survey (RBUS) Project Team. (2018). *Current state of broadband usage*of rural communities in New Zealand. Retrieved from

  https://internetnz.nz/sites/default/files/InternetNZ%20RBUS%20Final%20Report\_1%20

  of%20August%20final.pdf
- Scheerder, A., Van Deursen, A. & Van Dijk, J. (2017). Determinants of internet skills, uses and outcomes. A systematic review of the second- and third-level digital divide. *Telematics and Informatics*, 34(8), 1607-1624. DOI: 10.1016/j.tele.2017.07.007
- Skinny Jump. (n.d.). *Skinny Jump: subsidised broadband for Kiwi homes*. Retrieved May 19, 2020, from <a href="https://www.skinny.co.nz/jump/about/">https://www.skinny.co.nz/jump/about/</a>
- Statistics New Zealand. (2004). *New Zealand: an urban/rural profile.* Retrieved from <a href="http://archive.stats.govt.nz/browse">http://archive.stats.govt.nz/browse</a> for stats/Maps and geography/Geographicareas/urban-rural-profile.aspx
- Statistics New Zealand. (2005). *New Zealand in the OECD.* Retrieved from <a href="http://archive.stats.govt.nz/browse">http://archive.stats.govt.nz/browse</a> for stats/government finance/central government <a href="mailto:t/nz-in-the-oecd.aspx">t/nz-in-the-oecd.aspx</a>

- Stern, M.J., Adams, A.E. & Elsasser, S. (2009). Digital inequality and place: the effects of technological diffusion on internet proficiency and usage across rural, suburban, and urban counties. *Sociological Inquiry*, 79(4), 391-417. DOI:10.1111/j.1475-682X.2009.00302.x
- Stringer, I. (2010). *IFLA professional report no. 123. Mobile library guidelines: revision by a working group of the IFLA Public Libraries Section.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ifla.org/files/assets/hq/publications/professional-report/123.pdf">https://www.ifla.org/files/assets/hq/publications/professional-report/123.pdf</a>
- Strover, S. (2014). The US digital divide: a call for a new philosophy. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 31(2), 114-122. DOI:10.1080/15295036.2014.922207
- Strover, S., Whitacre, B., Rhinesmith, C. & Schrubbe, A. (2020). The digital inclusion role of rural libraries: social inequalities through space and place. *Media, Culture & Society, 42*(2), 242-259. DOI:10.1177/0163443719853504
- Sylvester, A., Toland, J. & Parore, P. (2017). Is the digital divide still relevant in 2017: Two cases from marginalized communities in Aotearoa-New Zealand. In *PACIS 2017 Proceedings:*\*Pacific-Asia Conference on Information Systems, 16-20 July 2017. Langkawi Island,

  Malaysia. Retrieved from

  https://aisel.aisnet.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1163&context=pacis2017
- Thiele, J. (2016). *Information access in rural areas of the United States: the public library's role in the digital divide and the implications of differing state funding models* (Publication No. 10123604) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Thompson, K. M. & Paul, A. (2020). Factors of digital inclusion among women: revisiting India and extending to Chile and Australia for additional analysis. *Library Quarterly, 90*(2), 173-188. DOI:10.1086/707673
- Van Deursen, A.J.A.M. & Van Dijk, J.A.G.M. (2019). The first-level digital divide shifts from inequalities in physical access to inequalities in material access. *New Media & Society,* 21(2), 354-375. DOI: 10.1177/1461444818797082

- Van Dijk, J.A.G.M. (2005). *The deepening divide: inequality in the information society.* Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publications. DOI:10.4135/9781452229812.n1
- Van Dijk, J.A.G.M. (2012). The evolution of the digital divide: the digital divide turns to inequality of skills and usage. In J. Bus, M. Crompton, M Hildebrandt & G. Metakides, (Eds.). *Digital Enlightenment Yearbook 2012*, (p.57-75). Amsterdam, Netherlands: IOS Press. DOI:10.3233/978-1-61499-057-4-57
- Vincent, J. (2014). An overlooked resource? Public libraries' work with older people an introduction. *Working with Older People, 18*(4), 214-222. DOI:10.1108/WWOP-06-2014-0018
- Wang, T. & Lund, B. (2020). Announcement information provided by United States' public libraries during the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic. *Public Library Quarterly, 39*(4), 283-294. DOI: 10.1080/01616846.2020.1764325
- Ward, D. (1996). The changing role of mobile libraries in Africa. *International Information and Library Review, 28*(2), 121-133. DOI:10.1080/10572317.1996.10762392
- Warschauer, M. (2003). Dissecting the "digital divide": a case study in Egypt. *The Information Society*, *19*(4), 297-304. DOI:10.1080/01972240309490
- Wei, K-K., Teo, H-H., Chan, H.C. & Tan, B.C.Y. (2011). Conceptualizing and testing a social cognitive model of the digital divide. *Information Systems Research*, 22(1), 170-187. DOI:10.1287/isre.1090.0273
- Wyatt, D., McQuire, S. & Butt, D. (2015). *Public libraries in a digital culture*. Retrieved from <a href="https://arts.unimelb.edu.au/">https://arts.unimelb.edu.au/</a> data/assets/pdf file/0005/1867865/PublicLibrariesinaDi gitalCulture.pdf
- Yarrow, A. & McAllister, S. (2018). Trends in mobile and outreach services. *Public Library Quarterly*, *37*(2), 195-208. DOI:10.1080/01616846.2018.1436365

# **Appendices**

# Appendix 1: Participant Information Sheet



# Mobile libraries and digital inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand

#### INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPANTS

You are invited to take part in this research. Please read this information before deciding whether or not to take part. If you decide to participate, thank you. If you decide not to participate, thank you for considering this request.

### Who am I?

My name is Rachel Bell and I am a Masters student in the Master of Information Studies at Victoria University of Wellington. I am currently undertaking a research project supervised by Professor Anne Goulding.

## What is the aim of the project?

This research project aims to investigate the contribution mobile libraries are making to digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand.

Your participation will support this research by detailing what digital inclusion services your mobile library offers, how patrons interact with these services, and how your mobile library collaborates with other organisations to support digital inclusion.

This research has been approved by the Victoria University of Wellington Human Ethics Committee (#0000028732).

### How can you help?

You have been invited to participate because you are a mobile librarian providing services to non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand. If you agree to take part I will interview you in person or online. I will ask you questions about digital inclusion services in your mobile library. The interview will take up to one hour. I will make an audio recording of the interview with your permission and write it up later. You can choose to not answer any question or stop the interview at any time, without giving a reason. You can withdraw from the study by contacting me at any time up until 14<sup>th</sup> September 2020. If you withdraw, the information you provided will be destroyed or returned to you.

## What will happen to the information you give?

This research is confidential. This means that the researchers named below will be aware of your identity but the research data will be combined and your identity will not be revealed in any reports,

presentations, or public documentation. However, you should be aware that in small projects your identity might be obvious to others in your community.

Only my supervisors and I will read the notes or transcript of the interview. The interview transcripts, summaries and any recordings will be kept securely and destroyed, at the latest, on 30<sup>th</sup> October 2022.

## What will the project produce?

The information from my research will be used in my Masters research project report.

## If you accept this invitation, what are your rights as a research participant?

You do not have to accept this invitation if you don't want to. If you do decide to participate, you have the right to:

- choose not to answer any question;
- ask for the recorder to be turned off at any time during the interview;
- withdraw from the study up until 14<sup>th</sup> September 2020;
- ask any questions about the study at any time;
- receive a copy of your interview transcript;
- be able to read any reports of this research by emailing the researcher to request a copy.

## If you have any questions or problems, who can you contact?

If you have any questions, either now or in the future, please feel free to contact either:

#### Student:

Name: Rachel Bell University email address:

## Supervisor:

Name: Anne Goulding

Role: Professor of Library and Information

Management

School: School of Information Management

Phone: 04 463 5887 anne.goulding@vuw.ac.nz

## **Human Ethics Committee information**

If you have any concerns about the ethical conduct of the research you may contact the Victoria University of Wellington HEC Convenor: Associate Professor Judith Loveridge. Email hec@vuw.ac.nz or telephone +64-4-463 6028.

# Appendix 2: Participant Consent Form



# Mobile libraries and digital inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand

### **CONSENT TO INTERVIEW**

This consent form will be held for two years.

Researcher: Rachel Bell, School of Information Management, Victoria University of Wellington.

- I have read the Information Sheet and the project has been explained to me. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I understand that I can ask further questions at any time.
- I agree to take part in an audio recorded interview.

Contact details: \_\_\_\_\_

### I understand that:

- I may withdraw from this study at any point up to 14<sup>th</sup> September 2020, and any information that I have provided will be returned to me or destroyed.
- I understand that I will be sent a copy of my interview transcript for member checking.
- The identifiable information I have provided will be destroyed on 30<sup>th</sup> October 2022 at the latest.
- Any information I provide will be kept confidential to the researcher and the supervisor.
- I understand that the findings may be used for a Masters report and academic publications and/or presented to conferences.
- I understand that the recordings will be kept confidential to the researcher and the supervisor.
- My name will not be used in reports and utmost care will be taken not to disclose any information that would identify me.

<ul> <li>I would like to receive a copy of the final report and have added my email address below.</li> </ul>	Yes 🗖	No 🗖
Signature of participant:		
Name of participant:		
Date:		

# Appendix 3: Organisational Information Sheet



# Mobile libraries and digital inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand

#### INFORMATION SHEET FOR ORGANISATIONS

Thank you for your interest in this project. Please read this information before deciding whether or not your organisation will take part. If you decide to participate, thank you. If you decide not to take part, thank you for considering my request.

#### Who am I?

My name is Rachel Bell and I am a Masters student in the Master of Information Studies at Victoria University of Wellington. I am currently undertaking a research project supervised by Professor Anne Goulding.

# What is the aim of the project?

This research project aims to investigate the contribution mobile libraries are making to digital inclusion in non-urban areas of Aotearoa New Zealand.

Your organisation's participation will support this research by detailing what digital inclusion services your mobile library offers, how patrons interact with these services, and how your mobile library collaborates with other organisations to support digital inclusion.

This research has been approved by the Victoria University of Wellington Human Ethics Committee (#28732).

### How can you help?

If you agree to take part, I will interview mobile librarians employed by your library. I will ask them questions about digital inclusion services in your mobile library. The interviews will take up to one hour. Employees may take part outside of work time, or complete interviews during work time, with your permission. The interviews will take place in person at your library or a nearby location convenient to your mobile librarian, or online via Zoom. Each individual participant will be asked to provide consent before their involvement in the research. I will make an audio recording of the interview with the permission of the participants and write it up later. The interviews will be confidential, meaning that the research team will know who participated, but the identities and regions of the participants will be protected.

What will happen to the information you give?

#### 30096123

Participation in this research is confidential. This means that the researchers named below will be aware of the identity of your organisation but your organisation will not be revealed in any reports, presentations, or public documentation. However, you should be aware that in small projects your identity might be obvious to others in your community.

Only my supervisors and I will read the notes or transcript of the interview. The interview transcripts, summaries and any recordings will be kept securely and destroyed, at the latest, on 30<sup>th</sup> October 2022.

# What will the project produce?

The information from my research will be used in my Masters research project report.

# If you accept this invitation, what are the rights of your organisation?

You do not have to accept this invitation if you don't want to. If you do decide that your organisation will participate, you have the right to:

- ask any questions about the study at any time;
- withdraw your organisation's participation from the study before 14<sup>th</sup> September 2020, however, individual participants retain the right to decide if their data will be withdrawn;
- be able to read a report of this research.

## If you have any questions or problems, who can you contact?

If you have any questions, either now or in the future, please feel free to contact either:

### Student:

Name: Rachel Bell University email address:

## Supervisor:

Name: Anne Goulding

Role: Professor of Library and Information

Management

School: School of Information Management

Phone: 04 463 5887 anne.goulding@vuw.ac.nz

### **Human Ethics Committee information**

If you have any concerns about the ethical conduct of the research you may contact the Victoria University of Wellington HEC Convenor: Associate Professor Judith Loveridge. Email hec@vuw.ac.nz or telephone +64-4-463 6028.

# Appendix 4: Organisational Consent Form



# Mobile libraries and digital inclusion in Aotearoa New Zealand

# **CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE (ORGANISATION)**

This consent form will be held for two years.

Researcher: Rachel Bell, School of Information Management, Victoria University of Wellington.

- I have read the Information Sheet and the project has been explained to me. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I understand that I can ask further questions at any time.
- I agree that my organisation will take part.

#### I understand that:

- I may withdraw this organisation from this study at any point before 14<sup>th</sup> September 2020, and the information provided by members of the organisation will be returned to them or destroyed.
- Any information the participants provide will be included in a final report but the transcripts and recordings will be kept confidential to the researcher and the supervisor.
- The identities of the participants will not remain confidential to the researchers.
- I understand that the results will be used for a Masters report and academic publications and/or presented to conferences.
- The name of my organisation will not be used in reports and utmost care will be taken not to disclose any information that would identify the organisation.
- I would like to receive a copy of the final report and have added my email address Yes No below.

  Signature of participant: \_\_\_\_\_\_

  Name of participant: \_\_\_\_\_\_

Date:\_\_\_\_\_

Contact details: \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_

Appendix 5: Semi-Structured Interview Guide

Research topic	Open-ended questions
Warm up	<ol> <li>To start, could you tell me a little bit about how you ended up being a mobile librarian and what your role entails?</li> </ol>
	2. Could you tell me about your mobile service? E.g. the vehicle, how many
	librarians are involved, the routes, the communities you serve.
	3. Are there particular skills that you require for this role? Are there any
	challenges that you experience around this? E.g. practical skills or
	isolation.
Digital inclusion	4. Could you tell me about the digital inclusion services that your mobile
services provided	library provides to the non-urban communities you serve? (and by digital
	inclusion services I mean)
	5. Do these have any strategic alignment with either council or library goals
	for digital inclusion?
	6. What are the challenges?
Patron	7. Are there some digital inclusion services patrons use a lot, or not very
interaction (I'd	much?
really like to	8. Do patrons express a desire for other types of digital inclusion service?
understand more	<ol><li>Do patrons ask questions about digital technology?</li></ol>
about how	10. Do patrons require assistance with digital technology? If so, how often?
patrons interact	11. What types of tasks do you assist patrons with?
with these)	12. Do they bring their own devices to the mobile, and do you provide assistance with these?
	13. Do patrons express any positive or negative impacts these digital
	inclusion services have for them?
	14. Do you notice a difference between services used in your urban and non-
	urban routes? (Where this is applicable)
Collaboration	15. Does your mobile library collaborate with any other organisations to
	provide digital inclusion services to non-urban communities?
	16. Which organisations do you collaborate with?
	17. What are the benefits and/or challenges that you face in this/these
	collaboration/s?
Follow up	18. Was there anything else you'd like to add?
	19. Was there anything I missed that you think I should have asked? Any
	questions or comments?
	20. Question re: other mobile librarians/contacts

# 

# Appendix 6: Final Code List

	FINAL CODE LIST				
#	Descriptive Label Code				
1-0	Digital Inclusion Services (DIS) provided	DIS			
1-1	Access	DIS-A			
1-2	Skills	DIS-S			
1-3	Motivation	DIS-M			
1-4	Trust	DIS-T			
2-0	Challenges in providing DIS	СН			
2-1	Scheduling	CH-SCH			
2-2	Financial	CH-FIN			
2-3	Physical	CH-PHY			
2-4	Staffing	CH-STF			
2-5	Measurability	CH-MEA			
2-6	Patron use	CH-PAT			
2-7	Covid-19	CH-COV			
2-8	Benefits to the library of providing DIS	BEN			
3-0	Collaboration	COLAB			
4-0	Changing Models of Service Provision	MOD			
4-1	Traditional model	MOD-TRD			
4-2	Contemporary model	MOD-CNT			
4-3	The Whole Library Experience	MOD-WLE			
4-4	Digital Inclusion Strategy	MOD-STR			
4-5	Digital Exclusion in the Community	MOD-EXC			
4-6	Community Consultation	MOD-CON			

Appendix 7: Definitions and Frequency of Themes

DEFINITIONS and FREQUENCY OF THEMES		
CODE	FREQ.	DEFINITION: EXAMPLE
DIS-A	75	Relates to the provision of access to digital devices, services, software and content:  "So we've got the Chromebooks and there's a stationary computer in there as well that they can use."
DIS-S	55	Relates to the provision of digital skills: how to use the internet and digital technology:  "A lot of people are asking how to do things on their phones too."
DIS-M	14	Relates to the motivation of patrons to understand how digital technology can help them meaningfully:  "It took a while to get them used to, that they could access the internet and all of that. So that was quite a lot of me gently pushing that side of the new service"
DIS-T	16	Relates to the building of trust in patrons to use digital services safely:  "Sometimes that's all it is, we're just sitting here like, yep ok just push settings, just push it, and they're actually doing all the work but it's like a security blanket, while they do it."
CH-SCH	24	Relates to challenges of scheduling and route-planning:  "Because a lot of our stops are 30 minutes in time, so it's not a lot of time and we do lots and lots of stops."
CH-FIN	9	Relates to challenges of financial or budgetary nature: "We've got WIFI on the buses two and a half years ago and that was quite a big struggle to get the acceptance of the funding for it really."
СН-РНҮ	30	Relates to challenges of a physical nature: "and it also sucked our batteries up, you know we run off these deep-cycle batteries, and it just kept killing the batteries, you know using the photocopier and stuff."
CH-STF	32	Relates to challenges of staffing or staff attitudes to DIS: "So the fact that we're sole-operating, we can do those quick and dirty little [] queries but we can't do anything more in-depth."
СН-МЕА	5	Relates to challenges in measuring the success of DIS:  "The success of the mobile library is always often based on issuing books, and we're trying to get away from that to a more"
CH-PAT	38	Relates to challenges of patron uptake and use of DIS: "Maybe like, there were only like 20 or 30 customers in the whole district, for a \$500,000 bus, it didn't really sort of stack up."
CH-COV	21	Relates to challenges associated with Covid-19: "So that's kind of, was going well until Level 2 and now we've had to pause it which sucks."

BEN	9	Relates to benefits to the library in providing DIS:
		"But I've noticed that our online, our e-books and that have gone up in those
	9	areas. People using them because now they know how to use them. [] I've
		shown them how."
	44	Relates to collaboration with external organisations to provide DIS:
COLAB		"I've been in touch with DIAA about Skinny modems, so yeah [], I will do
		Skinny modems on the road."
	26	Relates to comments about a 'traditional' model of mobile libraries:
		"You know it had shelving and didn't do any programing, didn't have WIFI,
MOD-TRD		didn't have computers, didn't have any of those things. It was kind of like the
		traditional model."
	51	Relates to comments about a contemporary model which is responsive, agile,
		and 'goes to the people':
MOD-CNT		"whether that's going to rugby on a Saturday morning or is it going to, you
		know, the wool sheds or is it going to the stock yards or is it going to touch
		night, or farmer's market, or, etc. etc."
MOD-WLE	14	Relates to comments about the mobile library providing the 'whole library
		experience':
		"Anything we can do in the libraries, we can do on there [the mobile library]."
MOD-STR	18	Relates to strategy underpinning digital inclusion services on mobile libraries:
		"But yeah we haven't got [] a strategic direction or plan."
	31	Relates to issues of digital exclusion that the mobile libraries are responding to:
MOD-EXC		"Because in a lot of our rural communities the quality of the [internet]
		connection is a challenge."
	22	Relates to comments about community consultation in the provision of mobile
MOD-CON		library services:
		"There was a lot of consultation done when it was started but we probably do
		need to do a second pass."

# 30096123

# Additional Information

Student name: Rachel Bell

Course name: INFO580

Word count (excluding cover page, acknowledgements, abstract, table of contents, references,

and appendices): 10,230